IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Ellis B. Drew, Jr., Master-in-Equity

---

Case No. 2007-CP-04-2786  
(Appellate Case No. 2012-213318)

---

Miller Construction Company, Inc.....Respondent,

v.

Pendleton Station, LLC, Enterprise Bank of South Carolina, and  
Angelo Penza.....Defendants,

Of whom Enterprise Bank of South Carolina is the.....Appellant.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Thomas E. Dudley, III, Esquire  
M. Stokely Holder, Esquire  
Kenison, Dudley & Crawford, LLC  
704 East McBee Avenue  
Greenville, SC 29601  
Ph. 864.242.4899  
Fax 864.242.4844

Other Counsel of Record:

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THE APPELLANT *PERSONALLY* LIABLE UNDER THE RESPONDENT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN CLAIM?
- II. DID THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY FIND AN UNDERLYING DEBT OWING TO RESPONDENT UNDER RESPONDENT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN CLAIM?
- III. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THE RESPONDENT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN WAS FILED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TIME LIMITATIONS FOUND IN S.C. CODE ANN. §§ 29-5-90 AND 29-5-120?
- IV. IS THE APPELLANT'S LIABILITY, IF ANY, UNDER THE RESPONDENT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN CLAIM LIMITED TO THE BALANCE DUE BY THE OWNERS OF EACH LIENED TRACT AT THE TIME THE OWNERS RECEIVED NOTICE FROM RESPONDENT OF THE ALLEGED DEBT DUE?
  - A. IS THE APPELLANT'S LIABILITY UNDER RESPONDENT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN ON 'TRACT A' LIMITED TO THE BALANCE FOUND DUE BY APPELLANT TO THE RESPONDENT AT THE TIME THE APPELLANT RECEIVED NOTICE FROM RESPONDENT?
  - B. IS THE APPELLANT'S LIABILITY UNDER RESPONDENT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN ON 'THE 2 ACRE TRACT' LIMITED TO THE BALANCE FOUND DUE BY THE OWNER OF 'THE 2 ACRE TRACT' (PENDLETON STATION, LLC) TO THE RESPONDENT AT THE TIME PENDLETON STATION, LLC RECEIVED NOTICE OF SAME FROM RESPONDENT?
  - C. IS THE APPELLANT'S LIABILITY UNDER RESPONDENT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN ON 'TRACT B' LIMITED TO THE BALANCE FOUND DUE BY THE OWNER OF TRACT B (DIANA L. ZELLNER, TRUSTEE FOR THE DIANA L. ZELLNER REVOCABLE TRUST UAD) TO THE RESPONDENT AT THE TIME THE OWNER OF TRACT B RECEIVED NOTICE FROM RESPONDENT?
- V. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN ENFORCING THE RESPONDENT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN ON 'TRACT A' AGAINST THE PREVIOUSLY RECORDED AND UNSATISFIED MORTGAGE OF APPELLANT?
- VI. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT NEITHER THE PRIOR MORTGAGE NOR PRIOR DEED TO APPELLANT WAS SENIOR IN PRIORITY TO RESPONDENT'S SUBSEQUENTLY FILED MECHANIC'S LIEN AGAINST 'TRACT A'?
- VII. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN ITS RULING ON THE DOCTRINE OF MERGER?
  - A. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN ISSUING AN ORDER ON THE DOCTRINE OF MERGER IN LIGHT OF THE LOWER COURT'S

AFFIRMATION ON THE RECORD THAT ANY STATEMENTS IT HAD MADE REGARDING MERGER IN THIS CASE SHOULD ONLY BE CONSIDERED 'DICTUM'?

- B. DID THE LOWER COURT'S ORDER ON THE DOCTRINE OF MERGER VIOLATE THE LAW IN THIS STATE THAT ONE LOWER COURT JUDGE DOES NOT HAVE THE POWER TO REVIEW, MODIFY, AFFIRM OR REVERSE THE FINDINGS OF ANOTHER LOWER COURT JUDGE?
- C. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN ITS INTERPRETATION AND APPLICATION OF THE CURRENT LAW ON MERGER IN THIS STATE?
- VIII. IN LIGHT OF THE LOWER COURT'S MECHANIC'S LIEN AWARDS TO MOORHEAD AND CRAFT, DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN NOT APPLYING S.C. CODE §§ 29-5-40 AND 29-5-60 IN ORDER TO PROPERLY PRORATE THE AMOUNT IT FOUND OWING TO RESPONDENT?
- IX. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN INCLUDING PRE-JUDGMENT INTEREST IN THE AMOUNT THE COURT AWARDED THE RESPONDENT AS AGAINST THE APPELLANT?
- X. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT WAS THE 'PREVAILING PARTY' UNDER THIS STATE'S MECHANIC'S LIEN STATUTE?
- XI. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN THE AMOUNT OF ATTORNEY FEES THAT IT AWARDED RESPONDENT?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 17, 2007, Respondent, Miller Construction Company, LLC ("Miller"), filed one Mechanic's Lien ("Miller Lien") against four (4) separate pieces of real property. [Miller Lien] In the Miller Lien, Miller alleged that it was owed \$111,784.00 for work that it allegedly performed on the four separate parcels. Miller also alleges that its last date of work was on March 6, 2007.

On August 31, 2007, Miler filed a Complaint against Pendleton Station, LLC – the owner of "The 2 Acre Tract" at the time ("PSL"), Enterprise Bank of South Carolina – the owner of "Tract A" and "The 38 Acre Tract" at the time (the "Bank"); Diana L. Zellner, Trustee for the Diana L. Zellner Revocable Trust UAD – the owner of "Tract B" at the time ("Zellner"); Angelo Penza; Bobby Bryant; Ursula Lesser; Roger Rowe; and

Benjamin L. Daniel. [Compl.] The Complaint included the following three causes of action, each of which was made against all Defendants: (1) Breach of Contract; (2) Unjust Enrichment; and (3) Foreclosure of Mechanic's Lien. Miller specifically pled in each cause of action that it was damaged under the specific cause of action in the amount of \$111,784.00.

The Bank filed its Answer denying all of Miller's claims. [Ans.] The Bank alleged in defense, *inter alia*, that Miller's claims were barred because the Bank had no legal or equitable duty to pay Miller for any work alleged to have been performed by Miller, and because both the prior deed to the Bank and the Bank's prior, unsatisfied mortgage were senior to Miller's subsequent mechanic's lien as against two of the four liened properties. Zellner, in its Answer to Miller's Complaint, included counterclaims alleging that Miller trespassed onto Zellner's "Tract B" to perform the alleged work ("Zellner Answer"). [Zellner Answer]

Miller conducted no discovery in this case.

After the Bank was served with Miller's lien and lawsuit, the Bank made several good faith attempts to get Miller to dismiss the claims against the Bank and the property, all to no avail. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 6, line 14 thru p. 8, line 14] So, the Bank served written discovery on Miller on June 3, 2008; however, Miller did not timely respond to the Bank's Interrogatories and Requests for Production. After repeated requests, Miller finally answered the Bank's Interrogatories on February 26, 2009. However, after additional attempts by the Bank to get Miller to respond to the remaining discovery failed, the Bank filed a Motion to Compel on July 14, 2009. The Bank also served a Rule 30(b)(6), SCRCF, Notice of Deposition on Miller together with a Notice of

Deposition on Miller's principal, Mike Miller. Due to Miller's failure to produce complete responses to the Bank's discovery requests, the Miller depositions were postponed. The depositions were ultimately taken on September 14, 2009.

The Bank filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment seeking, *inter alia*, the dismissal of Miller's Breach of Contract claim against the Bank and the dismissal of Miller's Mechanic's Lien. As part of the Bank's Motion regarding the cancellation of Miller's Lien, the Bank asked for attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-20, *et seq.* That Motion was heard on September 10, 2010. By Order of the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. ("Maddox Order"), the Bank's Motion was granted with respect to Miller's Breach of Contract claim against the Bank, and with respect to Miller's Mechanic's Lien on one of the four liened properties- "The 38 Acre Tract". [Maddox Order] Judge Maddox did not rule on the Bank's request for attorneys' fees and costs. So, prior to the case being tried, the Bank filed a Motion for an Award of Attorneys' Fees and Costs ("Atty Fee Motion") on October 5, 2011. [Atty Fee Motion]

Due to the factual similarities between Miller's lawsuit and the separate lawsuits filed by two other contractors on the same Project<sup>1</sup>, the lower court tried all three (3) cases at the same time.<sup>2</sup> [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 6, lines 1-7] However, none of the three lawsuits (or any of the three separate mechanic's liens at issue in each) were ever consolidated pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-170, or otherwise. [Trial Transcript Jan. 24, 2012, p. 27, line 24 thru p. 28, line 17; Miler Order, pp. 2, 8]

---

<sup>1</sup> Craft Construction Company, Inc. of Starr ("Craft") and Moorhead Construction, Inc. ("Moorhead")

<sup>2</sup> The date certain trial of this case was originally scheduled to begin on October 26, 2011 in the Anderson County Court of Common Pleas. However, after arriving for trial on said date, the court made it clear to counsel that the court would prefer the Master-In-Equity, Honorable Ellis B. Drew, Jr., hear the case. Despite the further delay (the case then being over four (4) years old at that point), the case was referred by Order of Reference to Judge Drew who subsequently set the trial in his court for December 8, 2011.

Prior to trial, Miller agreed to voluntarily dismiss Defendants Zellner, Bobby Bryant, Ursula Lesser, Roger Rowe and Benjamin L. Daniel. The lower court subsequently signed a 'Pre-trial Order Regarding Dismissal of Certain Parties' ("Pre-trial Order"). **[Pre-trial Order]** This left only the Bank, PSL and Angelo Penza as Defendants – with claims against only the former two. Also before taking testimony at trial, the lower court heard the Bank's previously filed Motion for an Award of its Attorneys' Fees and Costs. **[Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 7, line 17 thru p. 9, line 21]** The lower court withheld from ruling on the Motion until the resolution of Miller's lien claim against the remaining three liened properties.

At the close of Miller's case, the Bank moved for directed verdict as to Miller's two remaining causes of action against the Bank – Foreclosure of Mechanic's Lien and Unjust Enrichment. **[Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 140, line 13 thru p. 145, line 5]** The lower court denied the Bank's Motion after Miller argued that there was sufficient evidence entered into the record to support Miller's claims.

At the close of the Bank's case, after brief reply testimony, and after brief questioning by the lower court, the lower court immediately ruled on Miller's claims. **[Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 206, line 25 thru p. 207, line 6]** The lower court ruled that Miller's lien was valid in the amount of \$111,103.13, plus pre-judgment interest **[Id.]** The lower court ordered the record remain open pending a subsequent hearing before it on the S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-20, *et seq.* "prevailing party" issue. **[Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 208, lines 2-11]**

A subsequent hearing was scheduled for January 24, 2012. **[Trial Transcript Jan. 24, 2012, pp. 1-5]** At the hearing, the lower court immediately concluded that Miller

was the “prevailing party” in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 29-5-20, *et seq.* [Trial Transcript Jan. 24, 2012, p. 26, line 12 thru p.27, line 11] The lower court decided, *sua sponte*, at the hearing that Miller should be awarded attorneys’ fees in the amount of \$45,000.00 plus costs without any request for such amount from Miller and without taking any testimony or reviewing any documentation as to the actual amounts incurred. [Trial Transcript Jan. 24, 2012, pp. 1-30] Prior to concluding the hearing, the lower court made clear on the record that its comments on the record in this case regarding the merger doctrine should be considered “dictum” because that issue was not before it and it “[didn’t] need to hear anything about it.” [Trial Transcript Jan. 24, 2012, p. 12, line 14 thru p. 18, line 10] At the conclusion of the hearing, the lower court requested that Miller’s counsel propose an order and share same with the Bank. Over the Bank’s objection, the lower court subsequently signed the ‘Final Order and Judgment’ (“Miller Order”) exactly in the form proposed by Miller. [Miller Order] The Miller Order was signed and filed on June 7, 2012. The Bank received the Miller Order on June 13, 2012.<sup>3</sup>

In the Miller Order, the lower court awarded Miller a personal, money judgment against the Bank under Miller’s Mechanic’s Lien Foreclosure claim in the amount of \$199,831.86.[*Id.*, p. 10] This amount is apparently representative of a \$111,103.13 principal debt owed to Miller plus \$42,936.89 in pre-judgment interest, \$45,000.00 in attorneys’ fees, and \$791.66 in costs.[*Id.*, pp. 8-10] Also in the Miller Order, the lower court awarded the foreclosure of Miller’s Mechanic’s Lien finding the total lien amount to be the same \$199,831.86.[*Id.*, p. 10] The lower court did not award Miller any damages

---

<sup>3</sup> The lower court signed separate orders for each of the other two separate lawsuits that were tried together with Miller’s lawsuit.

for either its Breach of Contract claim or its Unjust Enrichment claim against any party.

**[Miller Order]** Miller did not file an appeal.

The lower court also ruled that despite one of the liened properties being previously deeded in lieu of foreclosure to the Bank, the deed to the Bank was *junior* in priority to the subsequently filed Miller Mechanic's Lien. **[Miller Order, pp. 4-7, 10-11]** The lower court also ruled in its order that the doctrine of merger applied when the Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure was filed such that the August 2005 unsatisfied mortgage from PSL to the Bank on the same property should be deemed satisfied. **[Id.]** In so ruling, the lower court concluded that Miller's April 2007 Mechanic's Lien was superior in priority to the Bank's August 2005 Mortgage on, and March 2007 Deed to, the subject property.

The Bank served its Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPC, on June 22, 2012. **[Motion to Reconsider]** At a hearing on August 21, 2012, the lower court immediately denied the Bank's Motion to Reconsider whereby the lower court requested that Miller again supply a proposed order to be shared with the Bank. **[Motion to Reconsider Transcript p. 18, line 16 thru p. 19, line 2]** The Bank received the proposed order and immediately objected to the form order and requested a reasoned order. Over the Bank's objection, the lower court signed the proposed order exactly in the form proposed by Miller. **[Order on Motion to Reconsider]** On October 5, 2012, the Bank received written notice of entry of the lower court's October 4, 2012 Order denying the Bank's Motion to Reconsider. On October 11, 2012, the Bank filed its Notice of Appeal as to the lower court's June 7, 2012 Order and as to the lower court's October 4, 2012 Order. Craft did not file an appeal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The underlying lawsuit centers on Respondent Miller's alleged construction work as a subcontractor on a failed mixed-use development project known as Pendleton Station, located in the Town of Pendleton within Anderson County, South Carolina. **[Maddox Order, p. 3]** The developer of the Pendleton Station project was Defendant PSL. The primary owners and operators of PSL are the family of (former Defendant) Benjamin L. Daniel, Sr. out of Charleston, South Carolina.

Although there were several phases planned for the Pendleton Station project, the initial phase is the only phase in which construction occurred and thus, is the only phase at issue in the underlying lawsuit. **[Maddox Order, p. 3]** The initial phase of the Pendleton Station project (the "Project") was to be performed over the following three contiguous tracts of property: (1) a two acre tract commonly referred to as "The 2 Acre Tract", which is the western-most property at issue; (2) on the eastern border of The 2 Acre Tract was a thirty-one acre tract commonly referred to as "Tract A"; and (3) on the eastern border of Tract A was another, almost identically shaped thirty-one acre tract commonly referred to as "Tract B". **[Maddox Order, p. 3; See map: Bank's Memo in Support of SJ, Ex. A]**

In August 2005, the Appellant Bank entered into a development loan agreement with PSL. **[Maddox Order, pp. 3-4]** This loan agreement involved the Bank loaning PSL monies via line-of-credit in the amount of \$3 Million for PSL's horizontal development (site work) of the Project (the "Development Loan"). **[Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, Def. Ex. 1, tab 3]** In exchange, the Bank received, *inter alia*, a promissory note (the "Promissory Note") from PSL stating the Bank was to receive a first mortgage

on the 64 acres comprising the three aforementioned properties where the horizontal development was to take place. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, Def. Ex. 1, tab 2]

Moorhead contracted with developer PSL to be the general contractor for the horizontal construction on the Project. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, Plaint. Ex. 4] Moorhead obtained a payment bond for the purpose of securing payment to any subcontractors that Moorhead may hire on the Project. (the "Payment Bond") [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, pp. 124, line 15 thru p. 125, line 2] Moorhead, in-turn, entered into subcontracts with Respondent Miller and Craft to perform portions of this work on the Project. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 60, lines 7-12]

After the Bank entered into the Development Loan agreement with PSL and while the horizontal construction was underway, the Bank in the fall of 2005 began entering into (vertical) construction loan agreements with individual fee simple owners of the fifty-eight townhome units that were to be constructed as part of the Project (the "Construction Loans"). [Bank's Memo in Support of SJ, pp. 2-4] This vertical construction did not commence until January 2006.

In December 2005, while work on the horizontal construction was still underway and prior to the vertical construction beginning, PSL provided the Bank with, *inter alia*, a first mortgage on an additional 38 acre tract ("The 38 Acre Tract") as further security for the Development Loan.<sup>4</sup> [Maddox Order, p. 4] The Bank then agreed to increase the Development Loan to PSL to \$5.5 Million. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 158, lines 6-15; Bank's Memo in Support of SJ, p. 3] In exchange, PSL agreed to, *inter alia*, have the Project completed by January 2007.

---

<sup>4</sup> The 38 Acre Tract is contiguous to the northern boundaries of both Tract A and Tract B. The (unimproved) 38 Acre Tract was purchased by PSL for its intended use in later phases of the development-phases that did not materialize. [Maddox Order, p. 3; Bank's Memo in Support of SJ, Ex. A]

In late February 2007, the Bank notified PSL that PSL was in default of its obligations to the Bank under the Development Loan, to include, without limitation, the obligations to complete the Project in a timely manner and to make timely payments to the Bank. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 158, lines 6-15, Def. Ex. 1, tab 5] PSL deeded the Project to the Bank in lieu of foreclosure on March 5, 2007 (the “Deed in Lieu”).<sup>5</sup> [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, Def. Ex. 1, tab 6; Bank Lawsuit pp. 9-10] The Deed in Lieu transferred only Tract A and The 38 Acre Tract less the units previously sold to the individual unit owners in fee simple.

Upon the Bank’s receipt of the Deed in Lieu, the Construction Loan agreements were still in place between the Bank and the fee simple owners of the 58 townhome units. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 163, line 21 thru p. 164, line 13] So, the Bank undertook an intensive investigation as to, *inter alia*, the condition and value of the work completed by PSL on the vertical construction and as to the status of PSL’s obligations to the individual unit owners. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 160, lines 4-11] In an effort to expedite this process and to obtain the information it needed to make the most informed decisions, the Bank decided to hire Charlie Kernaghan.<sup>6</sup> [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 15, lines 1-23]

---

<sup>5</sup> At the time, the \$5.5 Million Development Loan was outstanding in full. As discussed below, the Deed in Lieu was transferred with the understanding that PSL was still liable for any deficiency representative of the outstanding debt minus the value of the property that PSL was deeding in lieu of foreclosure.

<sup>6</sup> Kernaghan was a former employee of PSL who was working on the Project for PSL (as the latest construction manager for PSL) up until the Deed in Lieu was filed. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 14, lines 1-25] The Bank hired Kernaghan because it was undisputed then, and remains so today, that Kernaghan was never involved with the ownership or operation of PSL, was not a member of the much maligned Daniel family (owners of PSL), was never under suspicion for the myriad of claims pending against the Daniels, and he knew a great deal about the actual status of construction on the Project. [Trial Transcript Dec. 8, 2011, p. 15, lines 20-23] It was also beneficial to the Bank that Kernaghan could remain on-site on a daily basis since he lived nearby.

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