ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Ellis B. Drew, Jr., Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2007-CP-04-2786
(Appellate Case No. 2012-213318)

RECEIVED

JUN 24 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Miller Construction Company, LLC, Respondent,

v.

Pendleton Station, LLC, Enterprise Bank of South Carolina, and
Angelo Penza..... Defendants

Of whom Enterprise Bank of South Carolina is the Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

David J. Brousseau
McIntosh, Sherard, Sullivan & Brousseau
Post Office Box 197
Anderson, South Carolina 29622-0197
(864) 225-0001 || (864) 225-0004 (Fax)
Attorney for Respondent

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

**Effect of Acceptance of Deed-In-Lieu
(Issue #4)**

Generally, the recording statutes protect a bona fide purchaser for value without notice of prior claims against the enforcement of a mechanic's lien claim when the mechanic's lien is filed subsequent to the conveyance. *The Lite House, Inc. v. J.C. Roy Co., Inc.*, 309 S.C. 50, 419 S.E.2d 817 (Ct. App. 1992). However, in order to qualify as a bona fide purchaser for value, without notice of claim or defect in title, the purchaser must show:

- (1) he has actually paid in full the purchase money (giving security for the payment is not sufficient, **nor is past indebtedness a sufficient consideration**); (2) he purchased and acquired legal title, or the best right to it; **and**
- (3) he purchased bona fide, *i.e.* in good faith and with integrity of dealing, without notice of a lien or defect.

Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874-875 (2006)(emphasis added).

Acceptance of deed-in-lieu does not qualify one as a bona fide purchaser. *Id.* Additionally, there is significant evidence in the record that Enterprise Bank was aware of unpaid contractors at and before the time the deed-in-lieu was issued. [R. p. 418, line 24 - p. 420, line 13; p. 560, line 25 - p. 562, line 14; p. 431, line 1 - p. 433, line 17]. Further, Enterprise Bank immediately paid approximately 1.2 million dollars to unpaid contractors upon receiving the deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. [R. p. 439, line 2 - p. 440, line 10; p. 415, lines 4-23; p. 428, lines 4-25]. It had a duty and was on inquiry notice to perform a further investigation of possible unpaid contractors prior to accepting the deed-in-lieu.

Enterprise Bank never filed an action to set aside the deed-in-lieu of foreclosure even after being served with the mechanic's liens. [R. p. 438, lines 12-22]. Enterprise Bank also never filed a formal foreclosure action. [R. p. 439, lines 15-18]. Approximately nine months to a year later, Enterprise Bank then began reconstruction on the project. [R. p. 439, line 19 - p. 440, line 19]. Enterprise Bank agrees that it benefitted from the work provided by Miller, Moorhead and Craft. [R. p. 566, lines 9-14].

When one holds an equitable interest (such as a mortgage) and then becomes the legal title owner, the legal and equitable titles merge and the equitable encumbrance ceases to exist. *First Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n of S.C. v. Finn*, 300 S.C. 228, 387 S.E.2d 253 (1998). The doctrine of merger is a well settled tenant of real property law. "It must be taken to be settled in that state by a long line of adjudications, both in law and equity, 'that a mortgagee who buys the estate under mortgage not under process of foreclosure, extinguishes the debt or claim with him on the property.'" *Bleckley v. Branyon*, 26 S.C. 424, 2 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1887). Accordingly, by virtue of the doctrine of merger, Enterprise Bank no longer held an interest as a mortgagee, but rather became the fee simple owner but not as a bona fide purchaser for value without notice of prior claims. The purpose of this finding in the Final Order is important. Enterprise Bank still asserts that its mortgage has priority over lien claims of Miller. This finding is essential for the future foreclosure process that was ordered by the Master.

The acceptance of a deed-in-lieu has advantages and disadvantages. However, one inherent risk of acceptance of a deed-in-lieu is when a mortgagee accepts such a deed it is running the risk that there may be unpaid contractors whose ninety day time frame from their last date of work has not yet run. *Real Estate Law, 2nd Ed.*, Gibson, Karp & Klayman, page 494 (1987) and discussion of facts in *Kirkman v. Parex, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 477, 632 S.E.2d 854

(2006)⁶. Enterprise Bank was mindful of this risk. Upon receipt of the deed-in-lieu, Mr. Mathias was immediately dispatched to the project with an Enterprise Bank checkbook. He paid approximately 1.2 million dollars to unpaid contractors⁷. [R. p. 428, lines 4-25]. Further, Enterprise Bank believed it was now in the development business as taking over the project. [R. p. 431, line 17 - p. 432, line 9]. At that time it was performing an investigation of unpaid contractors and paying them what was owed in order to alleviate future filings of mechanic's liens. However, it decided to not pay Miller, Moorhead or Craft thereby necessitating the filing of said liens.

Accordingly, Miller contends and the record supports, the finding by the Master regarding acceptance of the deed-in-lieu, the doctrine of merger, and the effect the same has regarding this particular case.

**Enterprise Bank's argument that Craft's claim is limited in its
recovery by the amount claimed by Moorhead Construction
(Issue #5)**

By way of agreement of all parties, these three (3) cases were tried at the same. As referenced above, Moorhead Construction filed its lien claiming approximately \$401,000 as being owed. This amount contained amounts Moorhead owed to its subcontractors Miller and Craft. [R. p. 458, lines 8-15]. In order to avoid confusion and the issue of 'double dipping,' Moorhead only testified to amounts it was directly owed to the exclusion of what

⁶ In *Kirkman*, the builder had a contract for the sale and construction of the Kirkman's home. When the builder began experiencing financial problems, the lender who financed the builder's construction contemplated foreclosure. Initially, the parties agreed to hold off on foreclosing as it appeared the purchaser, Kirkmans', payment would extinguish the lender's debt. "It later became apparent that foreclosure was necessary because of junior liens on the property, which would not have been satisfied by the Kirkmans' payment." Then lender then filed formal foreclosure, purchased the home at foreclosure sale and finished the project. *Kirkman*, 369 S.C. at 480-81, 632 S.E.2d at 855-56.

⁷ Enterprise Bank additionally paid Ervin Mathias approximately \$600,000 during the span of nearly 4 years following taking over the project to help oversee the reconstruction. [R. p. 429, line 15 - p. 430, line 18]. Mr. Mathias was personally liable on the first note for \$3,000,000.

Moorhead owed both Craft and Miller⁸. [R. p. 461, lines 7-18; p. 538, lines 11-25]. This allowed Craft and Miller to both testify as to the individual amounts owed to each of them as sub-contractors of Moorhead.

S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-20 (as amended) provides in relevant part that the lien of a sub-contractor shall not exceed the amount due by the contractor from the owner. Enterprise Bank has argued that this section limits Craft's recovery to the amount awarded to Moorhead in its action. However, Moorhead's total amount owed and claimed was \$401,000. This amount included the amount owed to both Craft and Miller. [R. p. 458, lines 8-15]. Further, the Master referenced the recovery of Miller and Craft in the Moorhead matter finding that technically Moorhead's recovery not only included the amounts owed directly to Moorhead, but also it's subcontractors for a total recovery of \$247,730.94. [R. pp. 28-29].

Additionally, this section of the code is a layer of protection for owners who have paid a general contractor in full, but the general contractor did not pay its sub-contractors. In this case, there would be no such protection. It was undisputed at trial that all three contractors were owed monies for unpaid services benefitting this real property. Further, it was undisputed that Moorhead was not paid in full for the services provided not only by his firm but also for the services provided by his sub-contractors, Craft and Miller. Accordingly, for the above stated reasons, Miller contends that this defense and argument should fail.

⁸ The cases were always treated as one case as a whole. See also argument regarding settlement discussions at the attorney fee hearing. [R. p. 613, line 14 - p. 615, line 14].

not to the extent of the original contention.’ *Keeney’s Metal Roofing, Inc., v. Palmieri*, 345 S.C. 550, 554, 548 S.E.2d 900, 902 (Ct. App. 2001)(internal citations omitted). Further, the statute does not provide an exception for the language of one verdict in the action. In this case, there was one verdict, and it was in favor of Miller in the amount of \$111,103.13 plus pre-judgment interest.

Enterprise Bank asserts that it was error for the Master to award \$45,000 in attorney’s fees and \$791.66 in costs to Moorhead. S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-20 provides that a reasonable attorney fee must be determined by the Court to the prevailing party. The only statutory limitation on this amount is that the fee can not exceed the amount of the lien.

After finding that Miller was the prevailing party, the Master determined that \$45,000 in attorney’s fees was a reasonable amount. Enterprise Bank did not object to this finding at the hearing. At no time during the course of the hearing did Enterprise Bank assert that testimony need be taken regarding the reasonableness of the fee award⁹. The losing party generally must present his issues and argument to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments. *I’on, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). If the losing party raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue. *Id.*

In this particular case, the first time the issue was raised regarding reasonableness or the manner in which the Master determined the fee was in Enterprise Bank’s Motion to alter or amend. [R. pp. 392-396]. Of important note, at the fee hearing, Enterprise Bank submitted a fee affidavit in the Miller matter evidencing total fees of \$68,031.55 in the that particular

⁹ Miller was present as was Miller’s expert ready to proceed with this facet of the case.

**Attorney's Fees & Costs
(Issues #6)**

S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-20 (as amended) provides in relevant part that the prevailing party in a mechanic's lien action is entitled to its attorney's fees and costs. By virtue of the Master's ruling, Miller was clearly the prevailing party at trial in this matter. "For purposes of the award of attorney's fees, the determination of the prevailing party is based on one verdict in the action. One verdict assumes some entitlement to the mechanic's lien and the consideration of compulsory counterclaims." S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-20 (as amended).

Our supreme court has defined a "prevailing party" as

[O]ne who successfully prosecutes the action or successfully defends against it, prevailing on the main issue, even though not to the extent of the original contention [and] is the one in whose favor the decision or verdict is rendered and judgment entered. In a mechanic's lien action the defendant is entitled to an award of attorney fees as the prevailing party if it is determined that a mechanic's lien cannot be enforced against it.

EFCO Corp. v. Renaissance on Charleston Harbor, LLC; 370 S.C. 612, 618, 635 S.E.2d 922, 925 (Ct. App. 2006)

In this case, no written offers were made pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-20. Accordingly, the Plaintiff's offer was approximately \$111,000. Enterprise Bank's offer would be the value of its counterclaims, or if no counterclaims were made \$0. There is no question that Miller was the prevailing party at trial. See *Lauro v. Visnapuu*, 351 S.C. 507, 570 S.E.2d 551 (Ct. App. 2002).

Enterprise Bank alternatively argues that it is entitled to an offset for an amount of attorney's fees due to the grant of summary judgment on one tract of land out of the four tracts that were originally involved in this case. As referenced above, S.C. Code Ann. §29-5-20 states in relevant part that the award of attorney's fees goes to the prevailing party based on one verdict in the action. (Emphasis added). The term prevailing party has been defined as the 'the one who successfully defends against it, prevailing on the main issue, even though

case. [R. pp. 689-391]. The Master awarded Miller approximately 2/3 of that amount. [R. pp. 14-15].

**Order of Judgment vs. Foreclosure Order
(Issue #7)**

First of all, the Master struggled with this issue at trial. [R. p. 634, line 1, p. 637, line 12]. However, the Order is beneficial to Enterprise Bank in that the Master could (and likely should) have issued an immediate foreclosure decree to the benefit of Miller. [R. p. 636, line 10 - p. 637, line 6]. The obvious solution to this issue at the appellate level is to order the immediate foreclosure of the properties as the statute provides.

Enterprise Bank unequivocally agrees that work was performed by Miller, and that said work benefitted Enterprise Bank. [R. p. 442, lines 12-25; p. 566, lines 9-14]. Additionally, Charles Kernaghan testified that he believed Miller, Moorhead and Craft were owed monies on the project in excess of at least \$125,000. [R. p. 416, lines 12-19]. Had the Master ordered a foreclosure of the liens at the time of trial, Enterprise Bank would have been required to post a bond prior to filing its appeal. By virtue of asserting its appeal rights before said foreclosure was filed they did not have to post such a bond. The Master foresaw this issue, and as such issued the ruling that he did in anticipation of an appeal. [R. p. 636, line 10- p. 637, line 6]

CONCLUSION

Enterprise Bank agrees that constructive services were provided on a project that it accepted by virtue of a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. It further admits that it benefitted from the work performed. Lastly, the evidence was clear that Miller had not been paid for said work. However, despite paying approximately 1.2 million dollars to unpaid contractors just days after accepting the deed-in-lieu, it denies that it owes Miller any monies whatsoever.

It took the legal position that a deed-in-lieu gave the same protections as a formal foreclosure action despite not filing the same. It knew even at that time, that such a position was not a viable position in admitting that by virtue of accepting the deed-in-lieu it then became a 'developer.' Ultimately, it stepped into the shoes of the Developers and voluntarily decided, for whatever reason, that financially it would be better off by accepting the deed-in-lieu¹⁰. It did so while Mr. Mathias owed millions to it, but yet paid him more than all three (3) liens (Craft, Miller and Moorhead) combined to 'oversee' the reconstruction project for thousands of dollars per month in income.

At the end of the day, Enterprise Bank could have done what it did with numerous other unpaid contractors and pay Miller what was owed for the work it performed and for which Enterprise Bank benefitted. However, it decided not to do so. That was its decision, and it clearly understood the ramifications of its decision by virtue of its actions in paying numerous other unpaid contractors after accepting the deed-in-lieu.

Not only was there evidence to support Miller's claims (the standard of review in this type of case), there was significant evidence to support the claims and very little evidence to refute the claims. At different times throughout its brief, Enterprise Bank asserts the argument that Miller held the property hostage; however, Enterprise Bank held its own property hostage. It originally understood that it had to pay unpaid contractors, why it stopped with these three contractors from the Upstate is known only to Enterprise Bank.

Had Enterprise Bank filed formal foreclosure proceedings, the outcome of this case would have been dramatically different. However, Enterprise Bank voluntarily decided to

¹⁰ Enterprise Bank has raised certain issues, both factual and legal, for the first time on appeal. There were essentially 2 issues at trial, 1) whether the last date of work alleged was accurate; and 2) the amount owed. Those two issues, of course, interplay with the issues of pre-judgment interest and attorney's fees to the prevailing party. As just one example, Enterprise Bank includes in its Statement of the Case that a judge pressured it in chambers to refer the case to the Master-In-Equity.

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